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Title 8—DEPARTMENT OF 
LABOR AND 

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 
Division 60—Missouri Commission on 

Human Rights 
Chapter 3—Guidelines and 

Interpretations of Employment  
Anti-Discrimination Laws 

8 CSR 60-3.010 Preservation of Records 
and Posting of Posters and Interpretations 

PURPOSE: The Missouri Commission on 
Human Rights has the authority to formulate 
policies to effectuate the purposes of Chapter 
213, RSMo (1986). This rule sets forth the 
rules for employer preservation of records, 
posting of posters, and commission’s inter-
pretations. 

(1) Every employer, labor organization, 
employment agency, or other business or 
establishment covered by Chapter 213, RSMo 
(1986) shall post a commission equal 
employment poster in a place where other 
employee notices are posted or in a conspic-
uous place where employees will have access 
to it. 

(2) Every person subject to the jurisdiction of 
the commission under Chapter 213, RSMo 
(1986) shall post the commission’s fair hous-
ing poster in all places of business and estab-
lishments subject to the statute. 

(3) Every person subject to the jurisdiction of 
the commission under Chapter 213, RSMo 
(1986) shall post the commission public 
accommodations poster in all places of busi-
ness and establishments subject to this 
statute. 

(4) Any personnel or employment record 
made or kept by any employer including, but 
not necessarily limited to, application forms 
submitted by applicants and other records 
having to do with hiring, promotion, demo-
tion, transfer, layoff or termination, rates of 
pay or other terms of compensation and 
selection for training or apprenticeship shall 
be preserved by the employer for a period of 
one (1) year from the date of the making of 
the record or the personnel action involved, 
whichever occurs later. 

(5) Where a complaint of discrimination has 
been filed and the respondent notified, the 
respondent employer shall preserve all per-
sonnel records relevant to the complainant 
until final disposition of the complaint. The 
term personnel records relevant to the com-
plaint, for example, would include personnel 

or employment records relating to the com-
plainant and to all other employees holding 
positions similar to that held or sought by the 
complainant and application forms or test 
papers completed by an unsuccessful appli-
cant or by all other candidates for the same 
position as that for which the complainant 
applied and was rejected. The date of final 
disposition of the complaint means the date 
which litigation is terminated, with regard to 
the complaint. 

(6) If a person fails to make, keep, or pre-
serve records or make reports in accordance 
with this regulation, the commission may 
draw an adverse presumption from this fail-
ure with regard to the allegations in the com-
plaint. The presumption is rebuttable. 

(7) Sections 213.065.1 and 213.065.2, RSMo 
are interpreted to mean that any structure built 
after the effective date of these rules which is 
a place of public accommodation as covered 
by this statute must provide access for handi-
capped persons unless it can be shown this 
accommodation would cause undue hardship. 

(8) A corporation or association must be 
owned or operated by a religious or sectarian 
group to be exempt as an employer under sec-
tion 213.010(8), RSMo. 

AUTHORITY: section 213.030, RSMo 2016.* 
This rule was previously filed as 4 CSR 180-
3.010. Original rule filed Oct. 31, 1973, 
effective Nov. 10, 1973. Amended: Filed July 
1, 1980, effective Nov. 13, 1980. Amended: 
Filed April 27, 2018, effective Nov. 30, 2018. 
Amended: Filed Jan. 6, 2020, effective July 
30, 2020. 

*Original authority: 213.030, RSMo 1959, amended 1978, 
1986, 1992, 1993, 1995, 1998. 
 
 
8 CSR 60-3.020 Employment Advertising 
Practices  

PURPOSE: The Missouri Commission on 
Human Rights has the authority to formulate 
policies to effectuate the purposes of Chapter 
213, RSMo (1986). This rule sets forth the 
guidelines and interpretations governing, but 
not limited to, the major aspects of employ-
ment advertising practices. 

(1) It shall be a violation of section 213.055, 
RSMo (1986) for any employer, labor organi-
zation, licensing agency or employment agen-
cy to cause to be published, printed, circulat-
ed or displayed any advertisement or notice 
relating to employment, employment oppor-

tunities, job openings, union membership, 
apprentice programs, job training programs, 
licensing opportunities or any of the terms, 
conditions or privileges under an employ-
ment advertisement or notice column which 
is segregated on the basis of race, creed, 
color, religion, national origin, sex, ancestry 
or handicap under any column heading which 
expresses overtly or subtly, directly or indi-
rectly, any preference specification or limita-
tion. 

(2) It shall be a violation of section 213.055, 
RSMo (1986) for any employer, labor organi-
zation, licensing agency or employment agen-
cy to cause to be published, printed, circulat-
ed or displayed any advertisement or notice 
relating to employment, employment oppor-
tunities, job openings, union membership, 
apprentice programs, job training programs, 
licensing opportunities or any of the terms, 
conditions or privileges the language of 
which advertisement or notice expresses any 
limitation, specification, discrimination or 
preference as to race, creed, color, religion, 
national origin, sex, ancestry or handicap. A 
limitation, specification, discrimination or 
preference as to religion, national origin or 
sex is not a violation where the limitation, 
specification, discrimination or preference is 
a bona fide occupational qualification for the 
particular job advertised as defined in section 
(5) of this rule. 

(3) Whenever a help wanted advertisement or 
notice is to contain any job title or job 
description which is not clearly neutral in 
terms of sex and to the job advertised is not 
one for which sex is a bona fide occupation-
al qualification as defined in this regulation, 
then the advertisement or notice shall instead 
utilize a neutral job title whenever practica-
ble. If the use of a neutral job title is not prac-
ticable, then the advertisement or notice may 
contain the nonneutral job title provided, 
however, that the advertisement or notice also 
includes: a) the job title which is the coun-
terpart of the nonneutral job title; or b) the 
designation “M/W.” Newspapers which print 
employment advertisements are encouraged 
to voluntarily print a box on their employ-
ment advertising pages indicating that the 
abbreviation “M/W”, when used, means men 
or women. 

(4) For the purpose of this regulation, the 
bona fide occupational qualification excep-
tion shall be narrowly interpreted to include 
only those situations where the essence of the 
business would be undermined by not exclud-
ing persons on the basis of their sex, religion 
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or national origin. The exception shall be 
interpreted so that individuals will not be 
considered for employment on the basis of 
any characteristics generally attributable to 
their group. The employer, labor organiza-
tion, licensing agency or employment agency 
has the burden of establishing with the 
Missouri Commission on Human Rights that 
religion, national origin or sex is a bona fide 
occupational qualification. 

(A) The application of the exception is not 
warranted where based on, for example, 
assumptions of the comparative general 
employment characteristics of persons of a 
particular religion, national origin or sex, 
such as their turnover rate; stereotyped char-
acteristics of the previously mentioned class-
es, such as their mechanical ability or aggres-
siveness; customer, client, coworker or 
employer preference; historical usage, tradi-
tion or custom; or the necessity of providing 
separate facilities of a personal nature, such 
as restrooms or dressing rooms. In regard to 
sex, the application of the exception may be 
authorized by the Missouri Commission on 
Human Rights where it is necessary for 
authenticity or genuineness, such as for an 
actor or actress or fitters of intimate apparel. 

(5) Any employer, labor organization, licens-
ing agency or employment agency may make 
a request of the Missouri Commission on 
Human Rights as to whether religion, nation-
al origin or sex is a bona fide occupational 
qualification for a particular job which they 
intend to cause to be published, printed, cir-
culated or displayed. The Missouri Commis-
sion on Human Rights shall give opinion in 
response to these requests. All requests shall 
be made in writing. An opinion in writing by 
the commission prior to the publication or 
display of any advertisement in response to 
this a request shall be binding on the com-
mission for the purpose of this regulation 
except in those instances where the inquiry 
has not fully and accurately disclosed the rel-
evant facts regarding the particular job in 
question. The commission shall maintain 
records as to each inquiry made pursuant to 
this section, to include the name, title and 
address of the inquiries, a summary of the job 
and job duties, the basis for the exception 
claimed and the time, date, identification 
number and disposition of the inquiry. 

(6) It shall be a violation of section 213.070, 
RSMo (1986) for any newspaper or other 
publication published or circulated within 
this state to print, publish or circulate 
employment advertisements under headings 
or columns that are segregated on the basis of 
race, creed, color, religion, national origin, 

sex, ancestry or handicap or under any col-
umn or heading which expresses overtly or 
subtly, directly or indirectly a preference, 
specification or limitation on the basis of 
race, creed, color, religion, national origin, 
sex, ancestry or handicap. 

(A) Newspapers and other publications 
which print employment advertisements are 
encouraged to maintain lists of discriminato-
ry terms and permissible substitutes and to 
instruct their employees to advise employers, 
labor organizations, licensing agencies or 
employment agencies of these terms and to 
have copies of these regulations available for 
distribution to advertisers upon request. 

(B) The use of language including but not 
limited to black, Negro, colored, white, 
restricted, interracial, segregated, Christian, 
Jewish, men, women, boy, gal or any other 
word, term, phrase or expression which tends 
to influence, persuade or dissuade, encourage 
or discourage, attract or repel, any person(s) 
because of race, creed, color, religion, 
national origin, sex, ancestry or handicap 
shall be considered discriminatory advertis-
ing in violation of section 213.070, RSMo 
(1986). 

(7) Employers and/or labor organizations 
whose work forces or memberships do not 
bear a reasonable relationship to the racial 
and/or ethnic pattern of the general popula-
tion in their recruiting areas, may not recruit 
exclusively or even primarily by means of 
word-of-mouth referrals from present 
employees or present members. 

(8) Employers and/or labor organizations 
whose work forces or memberships do not 
bear a reasonable relationship to the racial 
and/or ethnic pattern of the general popula-
tion in their recruiting areas may not give 
preference in hiring or in admission to mem-
bership to relatives or present employees of 
present members by reason of those relation-
ships. 

(9) Nothing contained in this regulation shall 
be deemed to prohibit the commission from 
including in any of its orders against any 
respondent employer, labor organization, 
licensing agency or employment agency a 
provision requiring the respondent to include 
in any advertisement or notice regarding any 
employment or licensing opportunity the 
term equal opportunity employer or any sub-
stantially similar term. Nor shall this regula-
tion be deemed to prohibit persons from vol-
untarily using the term equal opportunity or 
any substantially similar term in any notice or 
advertisement. 

AUTHORITY: section 213.030(6), RSMo 
1986.* This rule was previously filed as 4 
CSR 180-3.020. Original rule filed Oct. 31, 
1973, effective Nov. 10, 1973. Amended: 
Filed July 1, 1980, effective Nov. 13, 1980. 

*Original authority: 213.030, RSMo 1959, amended 1978, 
1986, 1992, 1993, 1995, 1998. 
 
 
8 CSR 60-3.030 Employment Testing 
(Rescinded November 30, 2018) 

AUTHORITY: section 213.030(6), RSMo 
1986. This rule was previously filed as 4 CSR 
180-3.030. Original rule filed Oct. 31, 1973, 
effective Nov. 10, 1973. Rescinded: Filed 
April 27, 2018, effective Nov. 30, 2018. 
 
 
8 CSR 60-3.040 Employment Practices 
Related to Men and Women 

PURPOSE: The Missouri Commission on 
Human Rights has the authority to formulate 
policies to effectuate the purposes of Chapter 
213, RSMo (1986). This rule sets forth guide-
lines and interpretations governing, but not 
limited to, the major aspects of employment 
practices in relation to sex. 

(1) References to employer(s) in these rules 
state principles that are applicable not only to 
employers but also to labor organizations and 
to employment agencies insofar as their 
action or inaction may adversely affect 
employment opportunities, as defined in the 
Missouri Fair Employment Practices Act, 
Chapter 213, RSMo (1986).  

(2) The bona fide occupational qualification 
exception as to sex is strictly and narrowly 
construed. Labels-men’s jobs and women’s 
jobs-tend to deny employment opportunities 
unnecessarily to one sex or the other. 

(A) The following situations do not warrant 
the application of the bona fide occupational 
qualification exception:  

1. The refusal to hire a woman because 
of her sex based on assumptions of the com-
parative employment characteristics of 
women in general. For example, the assump-
tion that the turnover rate among women is 
higher than among men; 

2. The refusal to hire an individual 
based on stereotyped characterizations of the 
sexes. These stereotypes include, for exam-
ple, that men are less capable of assembling 
intricate equipment; that women are less 
capable of aggressive salesmanship. The 
principle of nondiscrimination requires that 
individuals be considered on the basis of indi-
vidual capacities and not on the basis of any 
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characteristics generally attributed to the 
group; and 

3. The refusal to hire an individual 
because of the preferences of coworkers, the 
employer, clients or customers. 

(3) Employers engaged in recruiting activity 
must recruit employees of both sexes for all 
jobs unless sex is a bona fide occupational 
qualification.  

(4) Advertisement in newspapers and other 
media for employment must not express a sex 
preference, unless sex is a bona fide occupa-
tional qualification for the job. The place-
ment of an advertisement in columns headed 
male or female will be considered an expres-
sion of a preference limitation, specification 
or discrimination based on sex.  

(5) Section 213.055, RSMo (1986) specifi-
cally states that it shall be unlawful for an 
employment agency to discriminate against 
any individual because of sex. Private 
employment agencies which deal exclusively 
with one sex are engaged in an unlawful 
employment practice, except to the extent that 
those agencies limit their services to furnish-
ing employees for particular jobs for which 
sex is a bona fide occupational qualification.  

(A) An employment agency that receives a 
job order containing an unlawful sex specifi-
cation will share responsibility with the 
employer placing the job order if the agency 
fills the order knowing that the sex specifica-
tion is not based upon a bona fide occupa-
tional qualification. However, an employment 
agency is not in violation of the law, regard-
less of the determination as to the employer, 
if the agency does not have reason to believe 
that the employer’s claim of bona fide occu-
pational qualification is without substance 
and the agency makes and maintains a written 
record available to the commission of each 
job order. This record shall include the name 
of the employer, the description of the job and 
the basis for the employer’s claim of a bona 
fide occupational qualification.  

(B) It is the responsibility of employment 
agencies to keep informed of opinions and 
decisions of the commission on sex discrimi-
nation.  

(6) A preemployment inquiry may ask 
male—, female—, or Mr., Mrs. Or Miss, 
provided that the inquiry is made in good 
faith for nondiscriminatory purpose. Any 
pre-employment inquiry in connection with 
prospective employment which expresses 
directly or indirectly any limitation, specifi-
cation or discrimination as to sex shall be 

unlawful unless based upon a bona fide occu-
pational qualification. 

(7) Written personnel policies relating to job 
policies and practices must expressly indicate 
that there shall be no discrimination against 
employees on account of sex. If the employer 
deals with a bargaining representative for 
his/her employees and there is a written 
agreement on conditions of employment, this 
agreement shall not be inconsistent with these 
rules.  

(8) Employees of both sexes shall have an 
equal opportunity to any available job that 
s/he is qualified to perform unless sex is a 
bona fide occupational qualification. 

(9) No employer shall make any distinction 
based upon sex in employment opportunities, 
wages, hours or other conditions of employ-
ment. In the area of employer contributions 
for insurance, pensions, welfare programs 
and other similar fringe benefits, the employ-
er will not violate these rules if benefits are 
equal for men and women.  

(10) Any distinction between married and 
unmarried persons of one sex that is not made 
between married and unmarried persons of 
the opposite sex will be considered to be a 
distinction made on the basis of sex. 
Similarly, an employer must not deny 
employment to women with young children 
unless it has the same exclusionary policies 
for men; or terminate an employee of one sex 
in a particular job classification upon reach-
ing a certain age unless the same rule is appli-
cable to members of the opposite sex. 

(11) The employer’s policies and practices 
must assure the appropriate physical facilities 
to both sexes. The employer may not refuse 
to hire men or women or deny men or women 
a particular job because there are no 
restrooms or associated facilities.  

(12) An employer must not deny a female 
employee the right to any job she is qualified 
to perform. For example, an employer’s rules 
cannot bar a woman from a job that would 
require more than a certain number of hours 
or from working at jobs that require lifting or 
carrying more than designated weights. 

(13) It is an unlawful practice to classify a job 
as male or female or to maintain separate 
lines of progression or separate seniority lists 
based on sex where this would adversely 
affect any employee unless sex is a bona fide 
occupational qualification for that job. 
Accordingly, employment practices are 

unlawful which arbitrarily classify jobs so 
that— 

(A) A female is prohibited from applying 
for a job labeled male or for a job in a male 
line of progression and vice versa; 

(B) A male scheduled for layoff is prohib-
ited from displacing a less senior female on a 
female seniority list and vice versa; and 

(C) A seniority system or line of progres-
sion which distinguishes between light and 
heavy jobs constitutes an unlawful employ-
ment practice if it operates as a disguised 
form of classification by sex or creates unrea-
sonable obstacles to the advancement by 
members of either sex.  

(14) The employer’s wage schedules must not 
be related to or based on the sex of the 
employees; and the employer may not dis-
criminatorily restrict one sex to certain job 
classifications. The employer must take steps 
to make jobs available to all qualified 
employees in all classifications without 
regard to sex.  

(15) Fringe benefits, as used in this rule, 
include medical, hospital, accident, life 
insurance and retirement benefits; profit-
sharing and bonus plans; leave; and other 
terms, conditions and privileges of employ-
ment.  

(A) It shall be an unlawful employment 
practice for an employer to discriminate 
between men and women with regard to 
fringe benefits.  

(B) Where an employer conditions benefits 
available to employees and their spouses and 
families on whether the employee is the head 
of the household or principal wage earner in 
the family unit, the benefits tend to be avail-
able only to male employees and their fami-
lies. Due to the fact that conditioning dis-
criminatorily affects the rights of women 
employees, and that head of household or 
principal wage earner status bears no rela-
tionship to job performance, benefits which 
are so conditioned will be found in a prima 
facie violation of the prohibitions against sex 
discrimination contained in the act.  

(C) It shall be an unlawful employment 
practice for an employer to make available 
benefits for the wives and families of male 
employees where the same benefits are not 
made available for the husbands and families 
of female employees; or to make available 
benefits for the wives of male employees 
which are not available for female employees; 
or to make available benefits to the husbands 
of female employees which are not made 
available for male employees.  

(D) It shall not be a defense under Chapter 
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213, RSMo (1986) to a charge of sex dis-
crimination in benefits that the cost of bene-
fits is greater with respect to one sex than the 
other.  

(16) A written or unwritten employment pol-
icy or practice which excludes from employ-
ment applicants or employees because of 
pregnancy is in prima facie violation of 
Chapter 213, RSMo (1986) and may be justi-
fied only upon showing of business necessity. 

(A) Disabilities caused or contributed to by 
pregnancy, miscarriage, legal abortion, child-
birth and recovery are, for all job-related pur-
poses, temporary disabilities and should be 
treated as such under any health or temporary 
disability insurance or sick leave plan avail-
able in connection with employment. Written 
or unwritten employment policies and prac-
tices involving matters such as the com-
mencement and duration of leave, the avail-
ability of extensions, the accrual of seniority 
and other benefits and privileges, reinstate-
ment and payment under any health or tem-
porary disability insurance or sick leave, 
plan, formal or informal, shall be applied to 
disability due to pregnancy or childbirth on 
the same terms and conditions as they are 
applied to other temporary disabilities. 

(B) Where the termination of a temporari-
ly disabled employee is caused by an employ-
ment policy under which insufficient or no 
leave is available, this termination violates the 
act if it has a disparate impact on employees 
of one sex and is not justified by a business 
necessity.  

(17) Harassment on the basis of sex is a vio-
lation of Chapter 213, RSMo.  

(A) Unwelcome sexual advances, requests 
for sexual favors and other verbal or physical 
conduct of a sexual nature constitute sexual 
harassment when— 

1. Submission to such conduct is made 
either explicitly or implicitly a term or con-
dition of an individual’s employment; 

2. Submission to or rejection of such 
conduct by an individual is used as the basis 
for employment decisions affecting the indi-
vidual; or  

3. Such conduct has the purpose or 
effect of substantially interfering with an 
individual’s work performance or creating an 
intimidating, hostile or offensive working 
environment.  

(B) In determining whether alleged con-
duct constitutes sexual harassment, the com-
mission will look at the record as a whole and 
at the totality of the circumstances, such as 
the nature of the sexual advances and the con-
text in which the alleged incidents occurred. 
The determination of the legality of a partic-

ular action will be made from the facts, on a 
case-by-case basis.  

(C) Applying general principles of Chapter 
213, RSMo, an employer, employment agen-
cy, joint apprenticeship committee or labor 
organization (hereinafter collectively referred 
to as employer) is responsible for its acts and 
those of its agents, employees and superviso-
ry employees with respect to sexual harass-
ment regardless of whether the specific acts 
complained of were authorized or even for-
bidden by the employer if the employer knew 
or should have known of their occurrence.  

(D) An employer is subject to vicarious lia-
bility to a victimized employee with respect 
to sexual harassment by a supervisor with 
immediate (or successively higher) authority 
over an employee or other supervisor who the 
employee reasonably believes has the ability 
to significantly influence employment deci-
sions affecting him or her even if the harass-
er is outside the employee’s chain of com-
mand. 

1. When no tangible employment action 
is taken, an employer may raise an affirma-
tive defense to liability or damages, subject to 
proof by a preponderance of the evidence. 
The defense comprises two necessary ele-
ments: a) that the employer exercised reason-
able care to prevent and correct promptly any 
sexually harassing behavior, and b) that the 
employee unreasonably failed to take advan-
tage of any preventive or corrective opportu-
nities provided by the employer or to avoid 
harm otherwise. 

2. No affirmative defense is available, 
however, when the supervisor’s harassment 
culminates in a tangible employment action.  

3. A tangible employment action is a 
significant change in employment status. It is 
the means by which the supervisor brings 
official power of the enterprise to bear on 
subordinates, as demonstrated by the follow-
ing: it requires an official act of the enter-
prise; it usually is documented in official 
company records; it may be subject to review 
by higher level supervisors; and it often 
requires the formal approval of the enterprise 
and use of its internal processes. A tangible 
employment action usually inflicts direct eco-
nomic harm. 

4. Examples of tangible employment 
actions include but are not limited to: hiring 
and firing; promotion and failure to promote; 
demotion; undesirable reassignment; a deci-
sion causing a significant change in benefits; 
compensation decisions; and work assign-
ments. 

5. The commission will examine the cir-
cumstances of the particular employment 
relationship and the job functions performed 
by the individual in determining whether an 

individual acts in a supervisory capacity with 
immediate (or successively higher) authority 
over an employee or is another supervisor 
who the employee reasonably believes has the 
ability to significantly influence employment 
decisions affecting him or her even if the 
harasser is outside the employee’s chain of 
command. 

AUTHORITY: section 213.030(6), RSMo 
2000.* This rule was previously filed as 4 
CSR 180-3.040. Original rule filed Oct. 31, 
1973, effective Nov. 10, 1973. Amended: 
Filed July 1, 1980, effective Nov. 13, 1980. 
Emergency amendment filed Sept. 17, 1999, 
effective Sept. 27, 1999, terminated Dec. 29, 
1999. Amended Filed Dec. 28, 2000, effec-
tive June 30, 2001. 

*Original authority: 213.030, RSMo 1959, amended 1978, 
1986, 1992, 1993, 1995, 1998. 
 
 
8 CSR 60-3.050 Religious Discrimination 

PURPOSE: The Missouri Commission on 
Human Rights is proposing to enact this rule 
to provide an interpretation of the prohibi-
tions in Chapter 213, RSMo against religious 
discriminations and to the requirement of an 
employer to reasonably accommodate reli-
gious beliefs of employees. 

(1) The employer has an obligation to make 
reasonable accommodations to the religious 
needs of employees and prospective employ-
ees where these accommodations can be 
made without undue hardships on the conduct 
of the employer’s business. Undue hardship, 
for example, may exist where the employee’s 
needed work cannot be performed by another 
employee of substantially similar qualifica-
tions during the period of absence of the 
Sabbath observer. The commission will 
review each case on an individual basis in an 
effort to seek an equitable application of 
these rules to the variety of situations which 
arise due to the varied religious practices of 
the people of this state. 

AUTHORITY: section 213.030(6), RSMo 
1986.* This rule was previously filed as 4 
CSR 180-3.050. Original rule filed July 1, 
1980, effective Nov. 13, 1980. 

*Original authority: 213.030, RSMo 1959, amended 1978, 
1986, 1992, 1993, 1995, 1998. 
 
 
8 CSR 60-3.060 Handicap Discrimination 
in Employment  

PURPOSE: The Missouri Commission on 
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Human Rights has the power and authority to 
adopt suitable rules to carry out the provi-
sions of the state Fair Employment Practices 
Act pursuant to 213.030(6), RSMo (1986). 
The rules represent the commission’s con-
struction of provisions dealing with handicap 
discrimination in employment. 

(1) Definitions. When used in these rules— 
(A) The phrase physical or mental impair-

ment means— 
1. Any physiological disorder or condi-

tion, cosmetic disfigurement, or anatomical 
loss affecting one (1) or more of the follow-
ing body systems: neurological; muscu-
loskeletal; special sense organs; respiratory, 
including speech organs; cardiovascular; 
reproductive; digestive, genito-urinary; 
hemic and lymphatic; skin; and endocrine; or 

2. Any mental or psychological disorder, 
such as mental retardation, organic brain syn-
drome, emotional or mental illness, and 
learning disabilities; 

(B) Disability means a person either has a 
physical or mental impairment which sub-
stantially limits one (1) or more of that per-
son’s major life activities; or has a record of 
such impairment; or is regarded as having 
such an impairment. 

1. Minor temporary illnesses shall not 
be considered physical or mental impairments 
resulting in a disability. Examples of minor 
temporary illnesses include, but are not lim-
ited to, broken bones, sprains, or colds; 

(C) Major life activities means those life 
activities which affect employability such as 
communication, ambulation, self-care, 
socialization, education, vocational training, 
employment, and transportation; 

(D) Has a record of such an impairment 
means a person has a history of, or has been 
misclassified, as having a physical or mental 
impairment that does not substantially limit 
major life activities but that is treated by an 
employer as constituting such a limitation; 

(E) Is regarded as having such an impair-
ment means a person— 

1. Has a physical or mental impairment 
that does not substantially limit major life 
activities but is treated by an employer or by 
others as constituting such a limitation; or 

2. Has none of the impairments defined 
in paragraph (1)(A)1. Or 2. of this rule, but 
is treated by an employer or by others as hav-
ing an impairment which substantially limits 
a major life activity; 

(F) Disability unrelated to a person’s abil-
ity to perform the duties of a particular job or 
position means a disability which does not 
substantially interfere with a person’s ability 
to perform the essential functions of the 
employment for which the person applies, is 

engaged in or had been engaged. 
1. Uninsurability or increased cost of 

insurance under a group or employee insur-
ance plan does not render a disability job 
related. 

2. A disability is not job related merely 
because the job may pose a threat of harm to 
the employee or applicant with the disability 
unless the threat is one of demonstrable seri-
ous harm to his/her safety. 

3. A disability is job related if placing 
the disabled person in the job would pose a 
demonstrable threat of harm to the health and 
safety of others. 

4. A disability is not job related if, with 
reasonable accommodation, it does not pre-
vent performance of the essential functions of 
the job in question; and 

(G) Reasonable accommodation means— 
1. An employer shall make reasonable 

accommodation to the known limitations of a 
handicapped employee or applicant; 

2. Accommodation may include: 
A. Making facilities used by employ-

ees readily accessible to and usable by hand-
icapped persons; and 

B. Job restructuring, part-time or 
modified work schedules, acquisition or 
modification of equipment or devices, the 
provision of readers or interpreters and other 
similar actions; and 

3. In determining whether an accommo-
dation is reasonable, factors to be considered 
include, but are not limited to: 

A. The nature and cost of the accom-
modation needed; 

B. The size and nature of a business, 
including the number and type of facilities 
and the structure and composition of the work 
force; 

C. The good faith efforts previously 
made to accommodate similar disabilities; 
and 

D. The ownership interest in the sub-
ject of the proposed accommodation includ-
ing the authority to make the accommodation 
under the terms of any bona fide agreement 
such as a lease. 

(2) Preemployment Inquiries. 
(A) An employer, labor organization, or 

employment agency shall not make pre-
employment inquiry of an applicant as to 
whether the applicant has a physical or men-
tal impairment or as to the nature or severity 
of this impairment. However, an employer, 
labor organization, or employment agency 
may make preemployment inquiry into an 
applicant’s ability to perform specific job-
related functions. 

(3) Employment Criteria. 

(A) An employer, labor organization, or 
employment agency shall not make use of any 
employment test or other selection criterion 
which screens out or tends to screen out 
handicapped persons or any class of handi-
capped persons unless— 

1. The test score or the selection criteri-
on is shown to be job related for the position 
in question; and 

2. Alternative job-related tests or crite-
ria that do not screen out or tend to screen 
out as many handicapped persons are shown 
to be unavailable. 

(B) An employer, labor organization, or 
employment agency shall select and adminis-
ter tests concerning employment to ensure 
that, when administered to the applicant or 
employee who has a handicap that impairs 
sensory, manual, reading or speaking skills, 
the test results accurately reflect the appli-
cant’s or employee’s job skills, aptitude, or 
whatever other factor the test purports to 
measure, rather than reflecting the applicant’s 
or employee’s impaired sensory, manual, 
reading, or speaking skills, except where 
those skills are the factors that the test pur-
ports to measure. 

(C) The requirements of 8 CSR 60-3.030 
regarding employment testing shall apply to 
the handicapped. 

(4) The requirements of 8 CSR 60-3.010 
regarding employer reporting and preserva-
tion of records shall apply to the handi-
capped. 

(5) The requirements of 8 CSR 60-3.020 
regarding employment advertising practices 
shall apply to the handicapped. 

(6) The requirements of Chapter 8 CSR 60-2 
regarding practice and procedure shall apply 
to the handicapped. 

AUTHORITY: section 213.030(6), RSMo 
2016.* This rule was previously filed as 4 
CSR 180-3.060. Original rule filed July 1, 
1980, effective Nov. 13, 1980. Amended: 
Filed April 27, 2018, effective Nov. 30, 2018. 

*Original authority: 213.030, RSMo 1959, amended 1978, 
1986, 1992, 1993, 1995, 1998. 

 
8 CSR 60-3.070 National Origin Discrimi-
nation  

PURPOSE: The Missouri Commission on 
Human Rights is proposing to enact this rule 
as an interpretation of the statutory prohibi-
tion of Chapter 213, RSMo against national 
origin discrimination. 
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(1) It is intended to eliminate covert as well 
as overt practices of discrimination, and the 
commission, therefore, will examine, with 
particular concern, cases where persons 
within the jurisdiction of the commission 
have been denied equal employment opportu-
nity for reasons which are grounded in 
national origin considerations. Examples of 
cases of this character which have come to 
the attention of the commission include, but 
are not limited to: The use of tests in the 
English language where the individual tested 
came from circumstances where English was 
not that person’s first language or mother 
tongue, and where English language skill is 
not a requirement of the work to be per-
formed; denial of equal opportunity to per-
sons married to or associated with persons of 
a specific national origin; denial of equal 
opportunity because of membership in lawful 
organizations identified with or seeking to 
promote the interests of national groups; 
denial of equal opportunity because of atten-
dance at schools or churches commonly uti-
lized by persons of a given national origin; 
denial of equal opportunity because their 
name or that of their spouse reflects a certain 
national origin; and denial of equal opportu-
nity to persons who as a class of persons tend 
to fall outside national norms for height and 
weight where the height and weight specifi-
cations are not necessary for the performance 
of the work involved. 

AUTHORITY: section 213.030(6), RSMo 
1986.* This rule was previously filed as 4 
CSR 180-3.070. Original rule filed July 1, 
1980, effective Nov. 13, 1980. 

*Original authority: 213.030, RSMo 1959, amended 1978, 
1986, 1992, 1993, 1995, 1998. 
 
 
8 CSR 60-3.080 Affirmative Action  

PURPOSE: The Missouri Commission on 
Human Rights enacts this rule to provide 
employers subject to the jurisdiction of the 
commission under Chapter 213, RSMo 1986 
some guidance in developing voluntary affir-
mative action plans. This rule will provide the 
standards that the commission will use to 
judge whether the plans are unlawfully dis-
criminatory. 

Editor’s Note: The secretary of state has 
determined that the publication of this rule in 
its entirety would be unduly cumbersome or 
expensive. The entire text of the material ref-
erenced has been filed with the secretary of 
state. This material may be found at the 
Office of the Secretary of State or at the head-
quarters of the agency and is available to any 

interested person at a cost established by 
state law. 

(1) This rule is not intended to provide stan-
dards for determining whether voluntary 
action has fully remedied past or existing dis-
crimination. Therefore, the rule does not 
apply to a determination of the adequacy of 
an affirmative action plan to eliminate dis-
crimination against previously excluded 
groups. Employers, labor organizations or 
other persons who take affirmative action 
may still be liable if the plan or program does 
not adequately remedy illegal discrimination. 
This rule applies to charges that the affirma-
tive action plan itself is discriminatory. 

(2) Voluntary affirmative action is appropri-
ate under the following circumstances: 

(A) Employers, labor organizations and 
other persons may take affirmative action 
based on an analysis which reveals employ-
ment practices causing potential adverse 
impact on the employment opportunities of 
those classes protected by Chapter 213, 
RSMo and 

(B) Because of historic restrictions by 
employers, labor organizations and others, 
the available pool of persons in a protected 
class who are qualified for employment or 
promotional opportunities is artificially limit-
ed. Employers, labor organizations and other 
persons are encouraged to take affirmative 
action in such circumstances, including, but 
not limited to, the following: 

1. Training plans and programs, includ-
ing on-the-job training, which emphasize 
providing members of the protected cate-
gories with the opportunity, skill and experi-
ence necessary to perform the functions of 
skilled trades, crafts or professions; 

2. Extensive and focused recruiting 
activity; and 

3. Modification through collective bar-
gaining where a labor organization represents 
employees, or unilaterally where one does 
not, of promotion and layoff procedures. 

(3) An affirmative action plan or program 
under this section shall contain three (3) ele-
ments—a reasonable self analysis, a reason-
able basis for concluding action is appropri-
ate and reasonable action. 

(A) The objective of a self-analysis is to 
determine whether employment practices do 
or tend to, exclude, disadvantage, restrict or 
result in adverse impact or disparate treat-
ment of previously excluded or restricted 
groups or leave uncorrected the effects of 
prior discrimination, and if so, to attempt to 
determine why. There is no mandatory 
method of conducting a self-analysis. The 

employer may utilize techniques used in order 
to comply with Executive Order No. 11246 
and its implementing regulations, including 
41 CFR Part 60-2 (known as Revised Order 
4), or related orders issued by the Office of 
Federal Contract Compliance Programs or its 
authorized agencies, or may use an analysis 
similar to that required under other federal, 
state or local laws or regulations prohibiting 
employment discrimination. In conducting a 
self-analysis, the employer labor organiza-
tion, or other person should be concerned 
with the effect on its employment practices of 
circumstances which may be the result of dis-
crimination by other persons or institutions. 

(B) If the self-analysis shows that one (1) 
or more employment practices—1) have or 
tend to have an adverse effect on employment 
opportunities of members of previously 
excluded protected groups, or groups whose 
employment or promotional opportunities 
have been artificially limited; 2) leave uncor-
rected the effects of prior discriminations; or 
3) result in disparate treatment, the person 
making the self-analysis has a reasonable 
basis for concluding that action is appropri-
ate. It is not necessary that the self-analysis 
establish a violation of Chapter 213, RSMo. 
This reasonable basis exists without any 
admission or formal finding that the person 
has violated Chapter 213, RSMo and without 
regard to whether there exist arguable defens-
es to a Chapter 213, RSMo violation.  

(C) The action taken pursuant to an affir-
mative action plan or program must be rea-
sonable in relation to the problems disclosed 
by the self-analysis. Reasonable action may 
include goals and timetables or other appro-
priate employment tools which recognize the 
race, creed, color, religion, sex, national ori-
gin, ancestry or handicap of applicants or 
employees. It may include the adoption of 
practices which will eliminate the actual or 
potential adverse impact, disparate treatment 
or effect of past discrimination by providing 
opportunities for members of groups which 
have been excluded, regardless of whether the 
persons benefited were themselves the vic-
tims of prior policies or procedures which 
produced the adverse impact or disparate 
treatment or which perpetuated past discrim-
ination. 

(D) Affirmative action plans or programs 
may include, but are not limited to, those 
described in the Equal Employment 
Opportunity Coordinating Council “Policy 
Statement on Affirmative Action Programs 
for the State and Local Government 
Agencies,” 41 FedReg 38,814 (September 
13, 1976), reaffirmed and extended to all 
persons subject to federal equal employment 
opportunity laws and orders, in the Uniform 
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Guidelines on Employee Selection Pro-
cedures (1978) 43 FedReg 38,290; 38,300 
(August 26, 1978). 

(4) In considering the reasonableness of a 
particular affirmative action plan or program, 
the commission will apply the following stan-
dards: 

(A) The plan should be tailored to solve 
the problems which were identified in the 
self-analysis and to ensure that employment 
systems operate fairly in the future while 
avoiding unnecessary restrictions on opportu-
nities for the workforce as a whole. The race, 
creed, color, religion, sex, ancestry, national 
origin or handicap conscious provision of the 
plan or program should be maintained only 
so long as necessary to achieve these objec-
tives; and 

(B) Goals and timetables should be reason-
ably related to such considerations as the 
effects of past discrimination, the need for 
prompt elimination of adverse impact or dis-
parate treatment, the availability of basically 
qualified or qualifiable applicants and the 
number of employment opportunities expect-
ed to be available. 

(5) Where an affirmative action plan or pro-
gram is alleged to violate, or is asserted as a 
defense to a charge of discrimination, the 
commission will investigate the charge in 
accordance with its usual procedures and pur-
suant to the standards set forth in these rules, 
whether or not the analysis and plan are in 
writing. However, the absence of a written 
self-analysis and a written affirmative action 
plan or program may make it more difficult 
to provide credible evidence that the analysis 
was conducted and that action was taken pur-
suant to a plan or program based on the anal-
ysis. Therefore, the commission recommends 
that these analyses and plans be in writing. 

(6) Parties are entitled to rely on orders of 
courts of competent jurisdiction. If adherence 
to an order of a United States District Court 
or other court of competent jurisdiction, 
whether entered by consent or after contested 
litigation, in a case brought to enforce a fed-
eral, state or local equal employment oppor-
tunity law or regulation, is the basis of a 
complaint or is alleged to be the justification 
for an action which is challenged, the com-
mission will investigate to determine whether 
such an order exists and whether adherence 
to the affirmative action plan which is part of 
the order was the basis of the complaint or 
justification. If the commission so finds, it 
will issue a determination of no probable 
cause. The commission interprets Chapter 
213, RSMo to mean that good faith actions 

taken pursuant to the direction of a court 
order cannot give rise to liability under 
Chapter 213, RSMo. 

(7) Compliance with an affirmative action 
plan developed pursuant to these rules is a 
defense to a complaint of discrimination 
based upon the implementation of that plan. 

AUTHORITY: section 213.030(6), RSMo 
1986.* This rule was previously filed as 4 
CSR 180-3.080. Original rule filed Sept. 19, 
1980, effective Feb. 12, 1981. 

*Original authority: 213.030, RSMo 1959, amended 1978, 
1986, 1992, 1993, 1995, 1998. 
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